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Message from the Board Chair 
Dear Fellow members,

Since 1944, VantageOne has been proud to serve our members and the greater 
community as the only financial institution based in the North Okanagan. Over 

these 79 years our credit union has evolved in response to the unique economic 
challenges and opportunities posed at the time. This past year was no exception! 

Member Dividends & Patronage Rebates – As you will see in our CEO’s report, we experienced a strong year 
in credit union profitability. As a result, as a board we looked at how we can share our success with you, the 
members. We will be able to share this in two ways, dividends on equity shares and Patronage Rebates. These 
will total over $400,000 being returned to you! Patronage rebates have not been done in recent years given 
the low-rate interest environment.  In the patronage rebates we will be providing a 30% return on service 
charges and a 10% return on term deposit interest. Details of this program will be provided as we process the 
rebates over the coming months. This return is in part due to the work undertaken by management and staff 
under the direction of CEO, Glenn Benishek. The board extends appreciation to them. 

Governance Update – From a governance perspective, your board has been working over the past year to 
update our policies, processes, and procedures. This included engaging with a consultant to assist with board 
structure, meetings schedules and areas of focus. This resulted in significant changes to how we as a board 
operate and has improved our overall effectiveness. We have a new governance framework in place that will 
serve the organization well moving forward. 

Rule Changes – One area of oversight that hasn’t been recently reviewed was the credit union’s rules. We 
worked with a lawyer who is a BC credit union expert, to assist us with performing an update. There were 
no major changes; however, with changes in regulations and legislation we are required to modernize our 
rules to fit the current environment. We provided the update for member voting during the director election 
process and will share the result at this Annual General Meeting. 

We are proud of the work the Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Committee continues to 
undertake and under their direction at the commencement of each meeting we have included a statement 
that recognizes we operate on the unceded traditional lands of the indigenous people that have used this land 
since time immemorial.

Thank you to the board for their commitment and dedication, staff for their hard work and service, and to 
you the members for the trust you have placed in making VantageOne your provider of financial ability.

Respectfully submitted,

 
Wilf Mulder
Board Chair

I would like to acknowledge that this report was written and delivered on the unceded traditional territory of the 
Okanagan Syilx Nation who have inhabited this land since time immemorial.
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Message from the Chief Executive Officer
It’s my honour to provide an 

update to the membership on what 
happened in 2022 and how we see the 

future unfolding for your credit union. 
I will specifically go over our business results, key 
activities for the past year and a look at the future.

Focus on Business Results
We are pleased to report improved business results 
for 2022. The past few years have been challenging 
with a significant decline in interest rates negatively 
impacting our financial margin. For 2022 this 
reversed, with inflation emerging as an economic 
problem and our central bank raising rates 
significantly to fight the inflationary pressures. Asset 
growth over the year was 4.1% or $17.6 Million, 
driven by both deposit and loan growth. Deposits 
showed strong growth in 2022 of 3.7% or  
$14.5 Million. We also experienced a very active 
lending market in both the consumer and commercial 
loan areas. Both portfolios showed significant inflows 
and outflows as members cashed out in a high real 
estate market and market activity remained strong 
at the start of 2022. Overall, the portfolio grew only 
0.7% or $2.3 Million, masking the significant activity 
that was processed over the year. One significant area 
of activity was in our commercial loan portfolio, 
where we experienced some of our large business 
members selling their businesses with good market 
demand. As a result of less loan growth, much of 
our deposit business went into investments, which 
improved significantly with rising interest rates over 
the year.

With rising rates over the past year, our earnings 
improved significantly in 2022. Financial margin 
was up 7.8% or $726,000, driven by increased 
revenue from loans with rising rates. This allowed 
our operating margin to grow 8.8%. We continue 
to manage expenses effectively, showing a decline 

of 0.7% which allows us to show a 62% increase 
in earnings before taxes. The result is we achieved 
a $1 Million increase in net earnings which allows 
us to add funds to our strong capital base as well as, 
noted in the chair report, share our success with our 
members through dividends and patronage rebates.

In addition to our overall results, we have had strong 
contributions to our success from our subsidiary 
companies, VantageOne Financial and VantageOne 
Leasing. VantageOne Financial is our wealth 
management subsidiary and has faced significant 
regulatory changes impacting their revenues. We are 
pleased with the effort and resilience of our team to 
address these challenges and show continued growth 
in business overall. VantageOne Leasing is our 
business equipment leasing subsidiary and provides 
equipment leasing to businesses across Canada. We 
run a small but very efficient portfolio and it has 
shown strong growth over the past year.

Focus on the Past Year
The past year was truly unprecedented for interest rate 
changes. We entered the year with interest rates at very 
low levels; however, inflation increased significantly. 
This resulted in the Bank of Canada increasing rates in 
2022 more than they have ever had to slow consumer 
demand and drop the inflation rate. This caused a 
slowdown in real estate activity and overall loan activity 
as rates and payments rose. This had a significant 
impact on our commercial portfolio in two ways, 
members selling their businesses with a lot of investors 
looking to purchase businesses in our region and 
members choosing to pay off loans with savings versus 
paying the higher interest rates. Both of these impacts 
we have never witnessed before and was yet another 
interesting result of the end of the pandemic era.

Over the past year we made progress on surveying 
and getting feedback from our members. We have 
used many different research programs over the 
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years; however, our VP Marketing was very successful 
in coordinating a member survey gaining us over 
800 member responses, the most we have ever had. 
What did member feedback tell us? It told us that 
satisfaction is high (over 4 stars out of a 5-star rating) 
and satisfaction with staff service is high; however, 
we need to improve in the areas of giving advice 
and recommendation to members and improving 
product and service fees. This is valuable information 
for us moving forward and areas we are working on. 
For 2023 we are looking to expand our surveying 
to commercial members where we hope to capture 
a strong representative sample so we can assess how 
we are doing and where we can improve. We greatly 
appreciate those members who take the time to provide 
us your feedback.

Focus on the Future

Looking at the current and future years we see a lot 
of interest from members on where our economy is 
going and we face continued development in digital 
banking tools and technology in our industry.

Where the economy is going is the biggest question 
we get from our members. The answer, of course, 
is no one knows exactly; however, we can look at 
key information and come to some conclusions. 
Our economy is driven by consumer spending, 
this should slow as higher rates take more out of 
monthly income through higher loan payments for 
many consumers. This should be a soft slowdown as 
employment remains very strong overall, with some 
sectors experiencing labour shortages. This is what 
is very different than our last inflationary period in 
the 1970’s where there was a surplus of workers. We 
see rates remaining stable this year as the Bank of 
Canada rate increases work to slow demand and drop 
inflation. This should prove effective by the end of 
this year.

From a banking perspective, more and more of 
our members choose to conduct their transactional 
banking transactions digitally. This means increases in 
use and demand for digital tools to pay bills, send and 
receive money and connect with us. We have all these 
tools and are working to improve them by increasing 
functionality, security, and ease of use. This will 
start with implementing two factor authentication 
for members using our online and mobile banking 
platforms. We will advise when this change takes place 
and will be here to support you as we implement this 
important update.

Thank You to Our Board, Team and Members

Our world continues to move quickly; I would like 
to thank our Board for their dedication, diligence, 
and leadership through the fast pace of change. Our 
leaders make our initiatives come alive, allowing 
us to respond to change. Thank you to an amazing 
leadership team for making it all happen! Our staff 
both on the front lines and behind the scenes are 
our difference—thank you to a dedicated team of 
financial professionals eager to serve our members!  
Finally, thank you to our members! You are our reason 
we are here, and we remain dedicated to ensuring we 
help you improve your financial ability—thank you 
for choosing VantageOne!

Respectfully submitted,

Glenn Benischek
Chief Executive Officer

Message from the Chief Executive Officer Continued
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the members of VantageOne Credit Union 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of VantageOne Credit Union 
(“the Credit Union”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
December 31, 2022, the consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in members’ equity and consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of VantageOne Credit Union as at December 31, 2022, and its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Credit Union in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements   

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Credit Union’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Credit Union or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Credit Union’s financial 
reporting process.  
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Credit Union’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Credit Union’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Credit Union to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 
 
 
Kelowna, Canada 
February 23, 2023  Chartered Professional Accountants 
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VantageOne Credit Union 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

December 31 2022 2021 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) $ 48,705,859 $ 45,660,767 
Other assets (Note 6) 1,259,662 992,833 
Investments (Note 7) 60,726,272 48,956,337 
Loans (Note 8) 330,274,508 327,948,374 
Deferred income tax (Note 15) 45,200 157,000 
Property and equipment (Note 10) 9,618,950 10,158,646 
Accrued pension asset (Note 14) 1,506,100 670,200 

Total assets $ 452,136,551 $ 434,544,157 

Liabilities 
Deposits (Note 12) $ 421,169,353 $ 406,689,184 
Payables and other liabilities (Note 13) 1,117,945 926,830 
Income taxes payable (Note 15) 7,286 121,529 
Lease liability (Note 11) 57,192 85,051 

Total liabilities 422,351,776 407,822,594 

Members’ equity 
Members’ shares (Note 18) 868,772 883,131 
Retained earnings 28,186,015 25,533,608 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 729,988 304,824 

29,784,775 26,721,563 

$ 452,136,551 $ 434,544,157 

Commitments (Note 24) 
Post-reporting date events (Note 25) 

On behalf of the Board 

Chairperson 

Chief Executive Officer 
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VantageOne Credit Union 
Consolidated Statement of Earnings and  
Comprehensive Income 
Year ended December 31    2022  2021 
 
Financial income 
 Loans   $ 11,075,470  $ 10,147,738 
 Cash and cash equivalents and investments   1,848,953   1,354,812 
      12,924,423   11,502,550 
 
Financial expense 
 Deposits    2,423,732   2,346,066 
 Share dividends    56,412  40,744 
 Patronage dividends    367,308   - 
 Provision for credit losses (recovery) (Note 9)   53,744  (181,971)  
      2,901,196   2,204,839 
 
Financial margin    10,023,227   9,297,711 
 
Other income (Note 19)    3,972,377   3,570,992  
 
Operating margin    13,995,604   12,868,703  
 
Operating expenses (Note 20)    10,847,804   10,921,298  
 
Earnings before income taxes    3,147,800   1,947,405  
 
Income taxes (Note 15)    495,393  319,210 
 
Net earnings    2,652,407   1,628,195  
 
Other comprehensive gain (loss), net of tax 
 
Cash flow hedges recognized in profit or loss    (10,252)  (239,815) 
 
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to net earnings 
 Unrealized loss on investments    (397,884)  (187,429) 
 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to net earnings 
 Unrealized actuarial gain on defined benefit 
 pension plan (Note 14)    833,300  839,900 
 
Comprehensive income   $ 3,077,571 $ 2,040,851 
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VantageOne Credit Union 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Members’ Equity 
Year ended December 31 
        Accumulated 
        other 
   Members’  Retained  comprehensive 
    shares  earnings  income (loss) Total 

Balance on December 31, 2020 $ 889,815 $ 23,905,413 $ (107,832) $ 24,687,396  
Net earnings  -  1,628,195  -  1,628,195 
Change in members’ shares, net  (6,684)  -  -  (6,684) 
Other comprehensive loss 
 Amortized gain on cash flow  
  hedges recognized to profit  
  or loss (Note 16)   -  -  (288,935)  (288,935) 
 Income tax recovery on 
  amortized gain on cash flow  
  hedges recognized to profit  
  or loss  -  -  49,120  49,120 
 Unrealized loss on 
  investments  -  -  (225,816)  (225,816) 
 Income tax recovery on 
  unrealized loss on 
  investments  -  -  38,387  38,387 
 Unrealized actuarial gain on 
  defined benefit pension 
  plan  -  -  839,900  839,900 
 
Balance on December 31, 2021 $ 883,131 $ 25,533,608 $ 304,824 $ 26,721,563 
Net earnings  -  2,652,407   -  2,652,407 
Change in members’ shares, net  (14,359)  -  -  (14,359) 
Other comprehensive loss 
 Amortized gain on cash flow  
  Hedges recognized to profit  
  or loss (Note 16)  -  -  (12,352)  (12,352) 
 Income tax recovery on 
  amortized gain on cash flow  
  hedges recognized to profit  
  or loss  -  -  2,100  2,100 
 Unrealized loss on 
  investments  -  -  (479,378)  (479,378) 
 Income tax recovery on 
  unrealized loss on  
  investments  -  -  81,494  81,494 
 Unrealized actuarial gain on 
  defined benefit pension 
  plan  -  -  833,300  833,300 
 
Balance on December 31, 2022 $ 868,772 $ 28,186,015 $ 729,988 $ 29,784,775 
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VantageOne Credit Union 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended December 31   2022  2021 
 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
 Operating activities 
  Earnings before income taxes $ 3,147,800 $ 1,947,405 
  Adjustments for non-cash items 
   Provision (recovery) for credit losses  53,744  (181,971) 
   Depreciation  708,730  860,633 
   Amortized gain of cashflow hedges  (12,352)  (288,935) 
   Gain on disposal of investments  -  (640,344) 
   Loss on disposal of property and equipment  771  261,056 
   Change in interest accruals  601,129  (690,645) 
   Receivables and other assets  (266,829)  (624,099) 
   Payables and other liabilities  188,515  (677,120) 

      4,421,508  (34,020) 
  Change in member activities 
   Change in loans, net of repayments  (15,219,037)  (36,842,335) 
   Change in deposits, net of withdrawals  15,564,465  14,923,047 
  Cash flows related to interest, dividends and income taxes 
   Interest received on loans  12,887,534  11,099,661 
   Interest received on investments  1,939,495  1,001,875 
   Interest paid on deposits  (1,774,239)  (3,056,930) 
   Income taxes paid  (414,242)  (203,792) 
   Dividends received on investments  -  5,955 

      17,405,484  (13,106,539) 

 Financing activities 
  Change in members’ shares, net  (14,359)  (6,684) 
  Dividends paid to members  40,439  41,118 
  Repayment of lease liability  (27,859)  (110,354) 

      (1,779)  (75,920) 
 Investing activities 
  Change in investments, net  (14,188,806)  (21,791,778) 
  Purchase of property and equipment  (169,807)  (1,677,610) 
      (14,358,613)  (23,469,388) 
 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  3,045,092  (36,651,847) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  45,660,767   82,312,614 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 48,705,859 $ 45,660,767 
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1. Governing legislation and operations 

The Credit Union is incorporated under the Credit Union Incorporation Act of British Columbia and the 
operation of the Credit Union is subject to the Financial Institutions Act of British Columbia.  The Credit 
Union serves members principally in the North Okanagan and Peachland. The products and services 
offered to its members include personal, commercial and other loans and mortgages; chequing and 
savings accounts; term, demand and other deposits. The Credit Union’s head office is located at 
3108 - 33rd Avenue, Vernon BC. These consolidated financial statements have been approved and 
authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 23, 2023. 

 
2. Basis of presentation and statement of compliance 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

The Credit Union and its subsidiaries’ functional and presentation currency is the Canadian dollar.  
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make certain 
critical accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the Credit 
Union’s accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed 
in Note 4. 
 
 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies 

Basis of consolidation 

The Credit Union financial statements consolidate those of the parent company and all of its 
subsidiaries up to December 31, 2022. The parent controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the subsidiary. Subsidiaries controlled through 100% ownership include 
VantageOne Financial Corp. and VantageOne Leasing Inc. All subsidiaries have a reporting date of 
December 31. 

All transactions and balances between the Credit Union and its subsidiaries are eliminated on 
consolidation. Where unrealized losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the 
underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a group perspective. Amounts reported in the 
financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with 
the accounting policies adopted by the Credit Union. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and for the purpose of the statement of 
cash flows, bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand. 

Financial Instruments 

Recognition and derecognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Credit Union becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and 
substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognized when it is 
extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 
(continued) 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Financial Instruments (continued) 

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 

All financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Financial assets, other than those designated 
and effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the following categories: 

 amortized cost;  
 fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); or  
 fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).  

The classification is determined by both:  

 the Credit Union’s business model for managing the financial asset; and  
 the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.  

Financial assets at amortized cost 

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL:  

 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 
flows; and 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Subsequent measurement of financial assets 

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The 
Credit Union’s cash and cash equivalents, term deposits, investment in Truvera Senior Limited 
Partnership and accrued interest, loans and other assets, fall into this category of financial instruments. 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

A financial asset is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated 
as at FVTPL:  

 it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets; and  

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

The Credit Union’s debt securities fall into this category of financial instruments. For debt securities 
measured at FVOCI, realized gains or losses and impairments are reclassified to profit and loss.  

In addition, on initial recognition, the Credit Union may irrevocably designate a financial asset that 
otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI, as at FVTPL, if doing 
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than ‘hold to collect’ or ‘hold to 
collect and sell’ are categorized at fair value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business 
model financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest 
are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial instruments fall into this category, except for those 
designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which the hedge accounting requirements apply, 
as disclosed below. 

(continued) 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Financial Instruments (continued) 

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 

All financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Financial assets, other than those designated 
and effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the following categories: 

 amortized cost;  
 fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); or  
 fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).  

The classification is determined by both:  

 the Credit Union’s business model for managing the financial asset; and  
 the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.  

Financial assets at amortized cost 

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL:  

 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 
flows; and 

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Subsequent measurement of financial assets 

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The 
Credit Union’s cash and cash equivalents, term deposits, investment in Truvera Senior Limited 
Partnership and accrued interest, loans and other assets, fall into this category of financial instruments. 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

A financial asset is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated 
as at FVTPL:  

 it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets; and  

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

The Credit Union’s debt securities fall into this category of financial instruments. For debt securities 
measured at FVOCI, realized gains or losses and impairments are reclassified to profit and loss.  

In addition, on initial recognition, the Credit Union may irrevocably designate a financial asset that 
otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI, as at FVTPL, if doing 
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than ‘hold to collect’ or ‘hold to 
collect and sell’ are categorized at fair value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business 
model financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest 
are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial instruments fall into this category, except for those 
designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which the hedge accounting requirements apply, 
as disclosed below. 

(continued) 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Financial Instruments (continued) 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) (continued) 

The Credit Union accounts for its investments in CEDA, Central 1, CUPP Services Ltd and Stabilization 
Central Credit Union at FVTPL and did not make the irrevocable election to account for these 
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).  

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognized in profit or loss. The 
fair values of financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions 
or using a valuation technique where no active market exists. 

Impairment of financial assets 

IFRS 9’s impairment requires the use of more forward-looking information to recognize expected credit 
losses – the ‘expected credit loss (ECL) model’. Recognition of credit losses requires the Credit Union 
consider a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit 
losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the 
expected collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument. 

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between: 

 financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition 
or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and 

 financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and 
whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’). 

‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. 

‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognized for the first category while ‘lifetime expected credit 
losses’ are recognized for the second and third categories. 

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit 
losses over the expected life of the financial instrument. 

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities 

The Credit Union’s financial liabilities include deposits, payables and other liabilities, and members’ 
shares classified as liabilities. 

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction 
costs unless the Group designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. 

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method 
except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at 
fair value with gains or losses recognized in profit or loss (other than derivative financial instruments 
that are designated and effective as hedging instruments). 

(continued) 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Financial Instruments (continued) 

Hedge Accounting 

The Credit Union, in accordance with its risk management strategies, enters into various derivative 
financial instruments to protect itself against the risk of fluctuations in interest rates. 

The Credit Union manages interest rate risk through interest rate swaps.  

Derivative financial instruments are account for at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) except for 
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedge relationships, which require a specific 
accounting treatment.  

To qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging relationship must meet all of the following hedge 
effectiveness requirements: 

 there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument 

 the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic 
relationship 

 the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the 
hedged item that the entity actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the 
entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item. 

For the reporting periods under review, the Credit Union has designated the interest rate swap contracts 
as hedging instruments in cash flow hedge relationships. These arrangements have been entered into 
to modify exposure to variability in cash flows for variable rate interest bearing instruments or the 
forecasted assurance of fixed rate liabilities. The Credit Union’s hedges are primarily hedges of floating 
rate commercial and personal loans. The Credit Union has not entered into any fair value hedges at this 
time. 

All derivative financial instruments used for hedge accounting are recognized initially at fair value and 
reported subsequently at fair value in the statement of financial position. 

To the extent that the hedge is effective, changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments in cash flow hedges are recognized in other comprehensive income and included within the 
cash flow hedge reserve in equity. Any ineffectiveness in the hedge relationship is recognized 
immediately in profit or loss. 

At the time the hedged item affects profit or loss, any gain or loss previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and presented as a reclassification 
adjustment within other comprehensive income. However, if a non-financial asset or liability is 
recognized as a result of the hedged transaction, the gains and losses previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income are included in the initial measurement of the hedged item. 

If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, any related gain or loss recognized in other 
comprehensive income is transferred immediately to profit or loss. If the hedging relationship ceases to 
meet the effectiveness conditions, hedge accounting is discontinued and the related gain or loss is held 
in the equity reserve until the forecast transaction occurs. 

(continued) 

12    |   2022 Annual Report



VantageOne Credit Union 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 
 

 10 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Financial Instruments (continued) 

Hedge Accounting 

The Credit Union, in accordance with its risk management strategies, enters into various derivative 
financial instruments to protect itself against the risk of fluctuations in interest rates. 

The Credit Union manages interest rate risk through interest rate swaps.  

Derivative financial instruments are account for at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) except for 
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedge relationships, which require a specific 
accounting treatment.  

To qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging relationship must meet all of the following hedge 
effectiveness requirements: 

 there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument 

 the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic 
relationship 

 the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the 
hedged item that the entity actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the 
entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item. 

For the reporting periods under review, the Credit Union has designated the interest rate swap contracts 
as hedging instruments in cash flow hedge relationships. These arrangements have been entered into 
to modify exposure to variability in cash flows for variable rate interest bearing instruments or the 
forecasted assurance of fixed rate liabilities. The Credit Union’s hedges are primarily hedges of floating 
rate commercial and personal loans. The Credit Union has not entered into any fair value hedges at this 
time. 

All derivative financial instruments used for hedge accounting are recognized initially at fair value and 
reported subsequently at fair value in the statement of financial position. 

To the extent that the hedge is effective, changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments in cash flow hedges are recognized in other comprehensive income and included within the 
cash flow hedge reserve in equity. Any ineffectiveness in the hedge relationship is recognized 
immediately in profit or loss. 

At the time the hedged item affects profit or loss, any gain or loss previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and presented as a reclassification 
adjustment within other comprehensive income. However, if a non-financial asset or liability is 
recognized as a result of the hedged transaction, the gains and losses previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income are included in the initial measurement of the hedged item. 

If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, any related gain or loss recognized in other 
comprehensive income is transferred immediately to profit or loss. If the hedging relationship ceases to 
meet the effectiveness conditions, hedge accounting is discontinued and the related gain or loss is held 
in the equity reserve until the forecast transaction occurs. 

(continued) 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Revenue 

Revenue arises mainly from interest earned on loans. 

The accounting treatment for loan fees varies depending on the transaction. Loan administration fees 
are deferred and amortized over the term of the loans using the effective interest method. Significant 
fees that would result in an adjustment to the overall loan yield are capitalized and amortized using the 
effective interest method. 

Property and equipment 

Property and equipment is initially recorded at cost and subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, with the exception of land and 
buildings under construction which are not depreciated. Depreciation is recognized in net earnings and 
is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows: 

 Buildings, renovations and HVAC system 15 to 40 years 
 Office equipment and computers 2 and 5 years 
 Furniture and fixtures 15 years 
 Leasehold improvements 10 years 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and adjusted if 
necessary. Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property and equipment are determined as the 
difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognized in 
net earnings. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

Non-financial assets are subject to impairment tests whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where the carrying value of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, the 
asset is written down accordingly. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the impairment test is carried out on the asset’s cash-generating unit, which is the 
lowest group of assets in which the asset belongs for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. 
Impairment charges are included in net earnings, except to the extent they reverse gains previously 
recognized in other comprehensive income. 

Income taxes 

Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not 
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

Current income tax liabilities comprise those obligations to fiscal authorities relating to the current or 
prior reporting periods that are unpaid at the reporting date.  Current tax is payable on taxable profit, 
which differs from profit or loss in the financial statements. Calculation of current tax is based on tax 
rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.  

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases.  However, deferred tax is not provided on 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability unless it affects tax or accounting profit. Deferred tax on 
temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries is not provided if reversal of these 
temporary differences can be controlled by the Credit Union and it is probable that reversal will not 
occur in the foreseeable future.  

(continued) 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Income taxes (continued) 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to 
apply to their respective period of realization, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be utilized 
against future taxable income, based on the forecast of future operating results which is adjusted for 
significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits to the use of any unused tax loss or 
credit. Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Credit Union has a right and intention to set 
off current tax assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority. 

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax income or expense in 
profit or loss, except where they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income 
(such as the revaluation of land) or directly in equity, in which case the related deferred tax is also 
recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively. 

Post-employment benefit and short-term employee benefits 

Post-employment benefit 

The Credit Union sponsors a defined benefit pension plan which is administered by CUMIS. A defined 
benefit plan is a pension plan which defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive 
on retirement in return for their service in the current and prior periods. It is funded through payments to 
trustee administered funds which are determined by actuarial valuations. 

The asset (liability) recognized in the statement of financial position for the defined benefit plan is the 
present value of the fair value of plan assets at the reporting date less the defined benefit obligation 
(“DBO”). The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated 
future cash flows using interest rates of government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating to 
the terms of the related pension liability. The defined benefit obligation is determined using the project 
unit credit method on an annual basis by an independent actuary. The actuarial valuation of plan 
obligations is dependent upon a series of assumptions, the key ones being price inflation, earnings 
growth, mortality and investment returns assumptions. Different assumptions could significantly alter the 
amount of difference between plan assets and obligations, and the pension cost charged to the 
statement of earnings and comprehensive income. 

Actuarial gains and losses related to the defined benefit pension plan are recorded directly in equity 
through other comprehensive income as they arise. Post-employment benefit expenses are included in 
‘salaries and benefits’. 

Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits, including holiday entitlement, are current liabilities included in ‘payables 
and other liabilities’, measured at the undiscounted amount that the Credit Union expects to pay as a 
result of the unused entitlement. 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when present obligations as a result of a past event will probably lead to an 
outflow of economic resources from the Credit Union and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or 
amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or 
constructive commitment that has resulted from past events, for example, legal disputes or onerous 
contracts.  Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. 

(continued) 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Provisions (continued) 

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based 
on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties 
associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood 
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a 
whole. Provisions are discounted to their present values, where the time value of money is material. 

Any reimbursement that the Credit Union can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with 
respect to the obligation is recognized as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the 
amount of the related provision. All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to 
reflect the current best estimate. 

Membership shares 

Membership shares are classified as liabilities or as members’ equity according to their terms. Where 
shares are redeemable at the option of the member, either on demand or on withdrawal from 
membership, the shares are classified as liabilities.  Where shares are redeemable at the discretion of 
the Credit Union Board of Directors, the shares are classified as equity. 

Distributions to members 

Patronage rebates and dividends on shares classified as liabilities are charged against earnings, when 
approved by the Board of Directors. 

Leased assets 

The Credit Union as a lessee  

For any new contracts entered into, the Credit Union considers whether a contract is, or contains a 
lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the 
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’. To apply this definition the Credit 
Union assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:  

• the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or 
implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Credit Union; 

• the Credit Union has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the 
identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the 
contract; and, 

• the Credit Union has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. 
The Credit Union assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is 
used throughout the period of use.  

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee  

At lease commencement date, the Credit Union recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on 
the balance sheet. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial 
measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Credit Union, an estimate of 
any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in 
advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received). The Credit Union 
depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the 
earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Credit 
Union also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist. 

(continued) 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Leased assets (continued) 

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (continued) 

At the commencement date, the Credit Union measures the lease liability at the present value of the 
lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is 
readily available or the Credit Union’s incremental borrowing rate.  

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments 
(including in substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be 
payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be 
exercised. 

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for 
interest. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in 
in-substance fixed payments. 

When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use 
asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.  

The Credit Union has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the 
practical expedients. Instead of recognizing a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in 
relation to these are recognized as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. On the statement of financial position, right-of-use assets have been included in property and 
equipment. 

The Credit Union as a lessor  

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as loans and receivables at the amount 
of the Credit Union’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting 
periods to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Credit Union’s net investment outstanding in 
respect of the leases. 

As a lessor the Credit Union classifies its leases as either operating or finance leases. A lease is 
classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
of the underlying asset, and classified as an operating lease if it does not. 

Foreign currency translation 

At the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue and expense denominated in a foreign currency is 
translated into Canadian dollars by the use of the exchange rate in effect at that date. At the year-end 
date, unsettled monetary assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars by using the 
exchange rate in effect at the year-end date and the related translation differences are recognized in net 
income.  

Standards and interpretations not yet effective 

At the date of authorization of these financial statements, several new, but not yet effective, Standards 
and amendments to existing Standards, and Interpretations have been published by the IASB. None of 
these Standards or amendments to existing Standards have been adopted early by the Credit Union.  

Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted for the first period beginning 
on or after the effective date of the pronouncement. New Standards, amendments and Interpretations 
not adopted in the current year have not been disclosed as they are not expected to have a material 
impact on the Credit Union’s financial statements 
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4. Judgments and estimates 

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, management undertakes a number of 
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Judgments, estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.  In the future, actual experience may differ from these judgments, 
estimates and assumptions. 

Judgments 

Recognition of deferred tax assets 
The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognized is based on an assessment of the probability 
of the Credit Union’s future taxable income against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized.  

Estimates 
The effect of a change in an accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in net 
earnings in the period of the change, if the change affects that period only; or in the period of the 
change and future periods, if the change affects both.   

Allowance for impaired loans and leases 
The expected credit loss model requires the recognition of credit losses based on up to 12 months of 
expected losses for performing loans and the recognition of lifetime losses on performing loans that 
have experienced a significant increase in credit risk since origination. The determination of a significant 
increase in credit risk takes into account many different factors and varies by loan type and risk 
segment. The main factors considered in making this determination are relative changes in probability 
of default since origination, and certain other criteria, such as 90-days past due and delinquency status. 
The assessment of a significant increase in credit risk requires experienced credit judgment.   

In determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and in calculating the amount 
of expected credit losses, the Credit Union must rely on estimates and exercise judgment regarding 
matters for which the ultimate outcome is unknown. These judgments include changes in circumstances 
that may cause future assessments of credit risk to be materially different from current assessments, 
which could require an increase or decrease in the allowance for credit losses. 

Useful lives of depreciable assets 
Management reviews the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date. At December 31, 
2022, management assesses that the useful lives represent the expected utility of the assets to the 
Credit Union. The carrying amounts are analyzed in Note 10. Actual results, however, may vary due to 
technical obsolescence, particularly for software and IT equipment. 

Fair value of financial instruments 
Management uses valuation techniques in measuring the fair value of financial instruments, where active 
market quotes are not available. Details of the assumptions used are given in the notes regarding 
financial assets and liabilities. 

In applying the valuation techniques management makes maximum use of market inputs, and uses 
estimates and assumptions that are, as far as possible, consistent with observable data that market 
participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where applicable data is not observable, management 
uses its best estimate about the assumptions that market participants would make. These estimates 
may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting 
date. 

(continued) 
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4. Judgments and estimates (continued) 

Estimates (continued) 

Income taxes 

The Credit Union periodically assesses its liabilities and contingencies related to income taxes for all 
years open to audit based on the latest information available. For matters where it is probable that an 
adjustment will be made, the Credit Union records its best estimate of the tax liability including the 
related interest and penalties in the current tax provision. Management believes they have adequately 
provided for the probable outcome of these matters; however, the final outcome may result in a 
materially different outcome than the amount included in income taxes payable.  

Accrued pension asset (liability) 

Under the Credit Union’s defined benefit plans, the amount of pension benefit that an employee will 
receive on retirement is defined by reference to the employee’s length of service and final salary. The 
legal obligation for any benefits remains with the Credit Union, even if plan assets for funding the 
defined benefit plan have been set aside. Plan assets may include assets specifically designated to a 
long-term benefit fund as well as qualifying insurance policies. 

Management estimates the defined benefit asset (liability) annually with the assistance of independent 
actuaries; however, the actual outcome may vary due to estimation uncertainties. The defined benefit 
asset (liability) is based on standard rates of inflation and mortality. It also takes into account the Credit 
Union’s specific anticipation of future salary increases. Discount factors are determined close to each 
year-end by reference to high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the 
benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension 
asset. 
 
 
5. Cash and cash equivalents 

The Credit Union’s cash and cash equivalents are held with Central 1. The average yield on the 
accounts at December 31, 2022 is 2.26% (2021 – 0.40%). 
   2022  2021 

Cash and current accounts $ 37,985,132 $ 26,655,827 
Callable term deposits and accrued interest    10,720,727  22,004,940 
 
     $ 48,705,859 $ 45,660,767 
 
 
6. Other assets 

Other assets are made up the following: 
   2022  2021 

Prepaid expenses $ 750,021 $ 992,833 
Assets held for lease    509,641  - 
 
     $ 1,259,662 $ 992,833 
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7. Investments 

The following tables provide information on the investments by type of security and issuer. The 
maximum exposure to credit risk would be the fair value as detailed below: 

   2022  2021 

Term deposits and accrued interest  $ 24,714,934 $ 14,231,099 
Truvera Senior Limited Partnership   250,000  250,000 
Shares 
 Central 1 Credit Union   127,035  129,958 
 CUPP Services Ltd.  -  101,475 
 Other  268  268 
Debt securities (Mandatory Liquidity Pool) 
 Government bonds  -  6,222,821 
 Provincial bonds  18,746,477  10,343,607 
 Mortgage-backed securities  16,737,749  17,589,887 
 Accrued interest on debt securities  149,809  87,222 
 
    $ 60,726,272 $ 48,956,337 
 
The Mandatory Liquidity Pool (“MLP”), consisting of high quality liquid assets (“HQLA”), meets 
regulatory requirements and ensures the funds are bankruptcy remote and creditor-proof. 

Non-callable term deposits are due between one month and five years. The carrying amounts for 
deposits at approximate fair value due to having similar characteristics as cash and cash equivalents. 

The shares in Central 1 are required as a condition of membership and are redeemable upon 
withdrawal of membership or at the discretion of the Board of Directors of Central 1. In addition, the 
member credit unions are subject to additional capital calls at the discretion of the Board of Directors. 

Central 1 shares are subject to an annual rebalancing mechanism and are issued and redeemable at 
par value. All such shares are classified as fair value through profit or loss. Central 1 shares are not 
available for trade in an active market therefore the market values are not readily available and the 
potential variability in the range of fair value estimates based on valuation models is significant. 
Therefore, shares in Central 1 are reported at their original cost, which is representative of their fair 
value. 

The Credit Union is not intending to dispose of any Central 1 shares as the services supplied by 
Central 1 are relevant to the day to day activities of the Credit Union. 

Dividends and redemptions on these shares are at the discretion of the Board of Directors of Central 1.  
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8. Loans 
    2022  2021 
Personal loans 
 Residential mortgages $ 187,304,847 $ 185,126,345 
 Personal loans and lines of credit  33,651,643  34,359,703 
Commercial loans 
 Mortgages  84,737,956  85,976,210 
 Other  6,735,687  6,914,271 
 Leases  17,771,584  15,556,643 

Total carrying amount  330,201,717  327,933,172 
 
Accrued interest receivable  471,281  422,904 

    330,672,998  328,356,076 
 
Deferred loan fees  (152,479)  (171,672) 

    330,520,519  328,184,404 
 
Allowance for impaired loans (Note 9)  (246,011)  (236,030) 
 
Net loans to members $ 330,274,508 $ 327,948,374 

Terms and conditions 

Member loans can have either a variable or fixed rate of interest with a maturity date of up to ten years. 

The Credit Union’s prime rate at December 31, 2022 was 6.45% (2021 – 2.95%) and is formulated on 
the Bank of Canada prime rate.  Loan rates are based on current Credit Union prime rate with a range 
based on lending criteria. 

The interest rate offered on fixed rate loans being advanced at December 31, 2022 ranges from 1.69% 
to 14.95% (2021 – 1.20% to 15.95%). The interest rate offered on fixed rate leases being advanced at 
December 31, 2022 range from 3.90% to 11.90% (2021 – 3.90% to 11.90%). 

Residential mortgages are loans and lines of credit secured by residential property and are generally 
repayable monthly with either blended payments of principal and interest or interest only. 

Personal loans consist of term loans and lines of credit that are non-real estate secured and have 
various repayment terms. Some of the personal loans are secured by wage assignments and personal 
property or investments, and others are secured by wage assignments only. 

Commercial loans consist of term loans, operating lines of credit and mortgages to individuals, 
partnerships and corporations, and have various repayment terms. They are secured by various types 
of collateral, including mortgages on real property, general security agreements, charges on specific 
equipment, investments, and personal guarantees. 

 (continued)  
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8. Loans (continued) 

Average yields to maturity 

Loans bear interest at both variable and fixed rates with the following average yields at: 

    2022   2021 
    Principal Yield  Principal Yield 

Variable rate  $ 48,755,016 7.21% $ 54,403,722 3.69% 
Fixed rate due less than one year  51,033,907 4.03%  64,208,979 3.50% 
Fixed rate due between one  
 and five years   230,412,794 3.90%  209,320,471 2.88% 

   $ 330,201,717 4.41% $ 327,933,172 3.13% 
 
Credit quality of loans 

It is not practical to value all collateral as at the balance sheet date due to the variety of assets and 
conditions. A breakdown of the security held on a portfolio basis is as follows: 

  2022  2021 

Unsecured loans $ 4,697,460 $ 4,650,977 
Loans, secured by real estate or insured by government  304,017,502  303,860,965 
Loans, otherwise secured  1,537,772  2,484,281 
Loans, secured by deposit and government securities  2,177,399  1,380,306 
Leases  17,771,584  15,556,643 

 $ 330,201,717 $ 327,933,172 
Fair value 

The fair value of member loans and leases at December 31, 2022 was $313,695,000 (2021 – 
$329,450,000). 

The estimated fair value of the variable rate loans is assumed to be equal to book value as the interest 
rates on these loans re-price to market on a periodic basis. The estimated fair value of fixed rate loans 
is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at current market rates for products with 
similar terms and credit risks. 

Finance leases as lessor 

The information below describes the nature of the Credit Unions leasing activities by type of right-of-use 
asset recognized on the balance sheet: 

The Credit Union’s future minimum finance lease receivables are as follows: 

                                    Minimum lease payments due                                    

         Non-  Unearned 
     Within 1  1 to 5 After 5 performing  finance 
     year  years  years leases income  Total 

December 31, 2022 $ 6,728,054 $12,776,435 $ 95,566 $ - $  (1,828,471) $ 17,771,584  

The interest rate inherent in the leases is fixed at the contract date for all of the lease term.  

Finance lease receivable balances are secured over the equipment leased. The Credit Union is not 
permitted to sell or repledge the collateral in the absence of default by the lessee.  
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9. Allowance for impaired loans 

The Credit Union classifies a loan as impaired when one or more loss events have occurred, such as 
bankruptcy, default or delinquency. Generally, consumer loans are classified as impaired when payment 
is contractually 90 days past due, or one year past due for residential mortgages if guaranteed by the 
Government of Canada. Personal loans and some small business loans are normally written off when 
they are one year past due. For the purpose of measuring the amount to be written off, the 
determination of the recoverable amount includes an estimate of future recoveries. 

Commercial loans are classified as impaired when the Credit Union determines there is no longer 
reasonable assurance that principal or interest will be collected in their entirety on a timely basis. 
Generally, the Credit Union considers commercial loans to be impaired when payments are 90 days 
past due. Commercial loans are written off following a review on an individual loan basis that confirms 
all recovery attempts have been exhausted. 

A loan will be reclassified to performing status when the Credit Union determines that there is 
reasonable assurance of full and timely repayment of interest and principal in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of the loan, and that none of the criteria for classification of the loan as impaired continue 
to apply.  

Loans are in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations in full without recourse, 
such as realizing security, or when the borrower’s payments are past due more than 90 days. 

Once a loan is identified as impaired, the Credit Union will continue to recognize interest income based 
on the original effective interest rate on the loan amount net of its related allowance. In the periods 
following the recognition of impairment, adjustments to the allowance for these loans reflecting the time 
value of money. 

Total allowance for impaired loans as at December 31, 2022: 

    2022 
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Residential mortgages 
Allowance for credit losses $ 89,924 $ 15,651 $ - $ 105,575 
Carrying amount  185,264,275  2,040,572  -  187,304,847 

Personal loans and lines of credit 
Allowance for credit losses  62,239  12,080  10,192  84,511 
Carrying amount  33,501,935  139,516  10,192  33,651,643 

Commercial loans 
Allowance for credit losses  33,642  2,985  -  36,627 
Carrying amount  90,021,091  1,452,552  -  91,473,643 

Commercial Leases 
Allowance for credit losses  19,298  -  -  19,298 
Carrying amount  17,771,584  -  -  17,771,584 

 
Total allowance for credit losses $ 205,103 $ 30,716 $ 10,192 $ 246,011 

Total carrying amount $ 326,558,885 $ 3,632,640 $ 10,192 $ 330,201,717 
 
(continued)  
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9. Allowance for impaired loans (continued) 

The following table shows the continuity in the loss allowance by each product type as at December 31, 
2022: 

Change in allowance: 
  Beginning  (Write-offs net Provisions   Ending 
  balance  of recoveries)  (Recoveries)   balance 
Residential mortgages 
 Stage 1 $ 80,903 $ - $ 9,021 $  89,924 
 Stage 2  11,296  49  4,306   15,651 
 Stage 3  -  -  -   - 

   92,199  49  13,327   105,575 

Personal loans and lines of credit 
 Stage 1  54,029  (1,873)  10,083   62,239 
 Stage 2  11,061  -  1,019   12,080 
 Stage 3  -  -  10,192   10,192 

   65,090  (1,873)  21,294   84,511 
Commercial loans 
 Stage 1  23,234  -  10,408   33,642 
 Stage 2  13,915  -  (10,930)   2,985 
 Stage 3  -  -     - 

   37,149  -  (522)   36,627 
Commercial leases 
 Stage 1  10,628  (3,296)  11,966   19,298 
 Stage 2  -  -  -   - 
 Stage 3  30,964  (30,964)  -   - 

   41,592  (34,260)  11,966   19,298 
 
Total provision $ 236,030 $ (36,084) $ 46,065 $  246,011 
 
Percentage of total loans 

and accrued interest 0.07%  0.07% 
 
In addition to the adjustments to the above noted provisions $43,763 (2021 – $99,900) was recovered 
from loans and leases previously written-off. 

Key inputs and assumptions 

The measurement of expected credit losses is a complex calculation that involves a large number of 
interrelated inputs and assumptions. The key drivers of changes in the expected credit losses include the 
following:  

Probability of default (“PD”) 

Probability of default is a forward-looking estimate of the realized default rate over either a 12-month or 
lifetime time horizon. It determines the probability a financial asset will default over the period considered. 

 • Retail: Based on default data from Credit Unions reported to Equifax; and 
 • Non-Retail: Based on mapping to external default data (no credit union data available). 
 
(continued) 
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9. Allowance for impaired loans (continued) 

Exposure of default (“EAD”) 

EAD is a forward-looking estimate of the realized EAD. It determines the proportion of a loan that will be in 
default if the account defaults over its expected remaining lifetime. These inputs include: 
 
 • The current outstanding balance of the loan at the reporting date; 
 • The payment amounts, assumed to be constant; and 
 • The interest rate paid per payment period. 
 
The EAD for an amortizing loan decreases as payments are received. For loans that are only required to 
pay principal and interest by the end of the project, the EAD is assumed to be the outstanding balance at 
the reporting date.  

For retail revolving loans, the assumptions are to be provided by the Credit Union. For non-retail revolving 
loans, the assumptions are based on data from large banks. Term loans and mortgages use contractual 
conditions and construction loans use the outstanding balance. 

Loss given default (“LGD”) 

LGD is the proportion of the defaulted balance that is considered an accounting loss following a recovery 
period. The recovery period used in the model is 24 months. Accounts that are not in default as at an 
observation point, but subsequently default within a given time horizon, are used to develop LGD estimates 
for non-defaulted exposures.  

12-month LGD only considers losses related to default events that occur in the 12-month time horizon 
following the observation date. For lifetime, LGD is estimated over the subsequent 12-month time horizons. 

Estimating the LGD requires: 

 • Estimating the exposure at default, which is done as noted above; and  
 • Estimating the proceeds from the liquidation of the property. 

For residential loans and real estate secured lines of credits, estimating the proceeds from the liquidation of 
the property considers the following:  

 • The value of the property at its last valuation date and the corresponding Home Price Index  
   (“HPI”) as of the valuation date;  
 • The HPI at the reporting date and projected values in the future; 
 • The type of property – single family, multi-family or condo; 
 • The average regional property value; and 
 • The recovery rate. 

For commercial loans, estimating the proceeds from the liquidation of the collateral considers the following:  

 • The potential that there may be more than one type of collateral; and 
 • Collateral might be shared among many different loans. 

The recovered amount of uncollateralized exposure is an average value obtained in two studies performed 
by Moody’s and JP Morgan Chase. 

(continued) 
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9. Allowance for impaired loans (continued) 

Staging 

Changes in staging occur when the following events take place:  

 • Retail: Changes in beacon score of greater than 30 DPD 
 • Non-Retail: Changes in borrower risk rating of greater than 30 DPD 

The lifetime of a product is based on the following data:  

 • Term and non-retail revolving: Contractual term of the product 
 • Retail revolving: Based on Credit Union data provided by Equifax 

Forward-looking information 

The model takes into consideration forward-looking information as follows: 

 • Residential loans and real estate secured lines of credits LGD: Collateral value adjustments  
  based on property index projections 
 • Retail and non-retail PD: Relationships with macro drivers derived from bank industry data  
  series and pay net 
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10. Property and equipment 
 
          Office  Furniture 
     Building and  Leasehold  equipment  and 
    Land  renovations  improvement and computers  fixtures  Total 
Cost 
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 1,403,184 $12,227,118  $ 1,502,565  $ 2,958,838  $ 641,352  $18,733,057  
 Additions  3,534  39,004  -  121,708  5,561  169,807 
 Disposals  -  (315,931)  (3,774)  (212,107)  (8,019)  (539,831) 

Balance on December 31, 2022  1,406,718  11,950,191   1,498,791   2,868,439  638,894   18,363,033  
 
Accumulated depreciation 
Balance at December 31, 2021  -  5,214,683   726,920   2,297,447   335,361  8,574,411  
 Depreciation  -  308,805  75,393  289,130  35,402  708,730 
 Disposals  -  (315,931)  (3,774)  (211,334)  (8,019)  (539,058) 

Balance on December 31, 2022 $ - $ 5,207,557  $ 798,539  $ 2,375,243  $ 362,744  $  8,744,083  
 
Net book value 
December 31, 2022 $ 1,406,718 $ 6,742,634  $ 700,252  $ 493,196  $ 276,150  $ 9,618,950  
 
December 31, 2021 $ 1,403,184 $ 7,012,435  $ 775,645  $ 661,391  $ 305,991  $10,158,646  
 
Included in the net carrying amount of buildings and renovations are right-of-use assets of $55,322 (2021 – $82,704). 
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11. Leases 

The Credit Union has leases for the multiple branch locations. With the exception of short-term leases 
and leases of low-value underlying assets, each lease is reflected on the balance sheet as a right-of-use 
asset and a lease liability. Variable lease payments which do not depend on an index or a rate (such as 
lease payments based on a percentage of Credit Unions sales) are excluded from the initial 
measurement of the lease liability and asset. The Credit Union classifies its right-of-use assets in a 
consistent manner to its property and equipment (see Note 10). 

Each lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the Credit Union to 
sublet the asset to another party, the right-of-use asset can only be used by the Credit Union. Leases are 
either non-cancellable or may only be cancelled by incurring a substantive termination fee. Some leases 
contain an option to purchase the underlying leased asset outright at the end of the lease, or to extend 
the lease for a further term. The Credit Union is prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying leased 
assets as security. For leases over office buildings the Credit Union must keep those properties in a good 
state of repair and return the properties in their original condition at the end of the lease. Further, the 
Credit Union must insure items of property and equipment and incur maintenance fees on such items in 
accordance with the lease contracts. 

The table below describes the nature of the Credit Union’s leasing activities by type of right-of-use asset 
recognized on balance sheet: 

The lease liabilities are secured by the related underlying assets. Future minimum lease payments at 
December 31, 2022 were as follows: 

  2023 $ 12,600 

  2024  12,600 

  2025  12,600 

  2026  12,600 

  2027  8,400 

  Total future minimum lease payments  58,800 

  Less amount representing finance charges  1,608 

  Net present value $ 57,192 
 
Lease payments not recognized as a liability 

The Credit Union has elected not to recognise a lease liability for short term leases (leases with an 
expected term of 12 months or less) or for leases of low value assets. Payments made under such leases 
are expensed on a straight-line basis. In addition, certain variable lease payments are not permitted to be 
recognised as lease liabilities and are expensed as incurred. 
 
(continued) 

 
Right of use 
asset (ROU) 

 
No. of ROU 

assets leased 

 
Range of 

remaining term 

Average 
remaining lease 

term 

No. of leases 
with options to 

purchase 

No. of leases 
with 

termination 
option 

Office buildings 1 5 years  5 years - - 
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11. Leases (continued) 

Lease payments not recognized as a liability (continued) 

The 2022 expense relating to payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability is as 
follows: 

Leases of non-identifiable assets   $ 34,801 
Variable lease payments    394,726 

Total   $ 429,527 

At December 31, 2022, the Credit Union was committed to leases of low value assets and the total 
commitment at that date was $934,801 for future periods. 

Variable lease payments expensed on the basis that they are not recognized as a lease liability include 
rentals based on revenue from the use of the underlying asset and excess use charges on office 
equipment. Variable payment terms are used for a variety of reasons, including minimizing costs for 
IT equipment with infrequent use. Variable lease payments are expensed in the period they are incurred. 

At December 31, 2022 the Credit Union had committed to leases which had not yet commenced. The 
total future cash outflows for leases that had not yet commenced were $nil. 

Total cash outflow for leases for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $527,734.  

Additional information on the right of use assets by class of assets is as follows: 

 Carrying amount 
(Note 10) 

Depreciation 
Expense 

 
Impairment 

Buildings and renovations $ 55,322 $ 27,382 $ - 

The right-of-use assets are included in the same line item as where the corresponding 
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.  
 
 
12. Deposits  2022  2021 

Term   $ 114,281,028 $ 85,333,756 
Demand   232,819,695  248,222,590 
Registered savings plans   72,244,120  72,341,113 

      419,344,843  405,897,459 

Accrued interest and dividends   1,824,510  791,725 

     $ 421,169,353 $ 406,689,184 

Terms and conditions 

Term and demand deposits bear fixed rates of interest for terms of up to five years. Interest can be paid 
annually, semiannually, monthly or upon maturity. The interest rates offered on term deposits and 
demand deposits issued on December 31, 2022 range from 0.30 to 4.85% (2021 – 0.25% to 3.30%). 

The registered retirement savings plans (“RRSP”) accounts can be fixed or variable rate. The fixed rate 
RRSPs have terms and rates similar to the term deposit accounts described above. The variable rate 
RRSPs bear interest at rates up to 1.0% at December 31, 2022 (2021 – 0.5%). 

(continued) 
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12. Deposits (continued) 

Terms and conditions (continued) 

Registered retirement income funds (“RRIFs”) consist of both fixed and variable rate products with terms 
and conditions similar to those of the RRSPs described above. Members may make withdrawals from a 
RRIF account on a monthly, semiannual, or annual basis. The regular withdrawal amounts vary according 
to individual needs and statutory requirements. 

The tax-free savings accounts can be fixed or variable rate with terms and conditions similar to those of 
the RRSPs described above. 

Included in demand deposits is an amount of $1,965,382 (2021 – $1,845,431) denominated in US dollars 
which has been translated to Canadian dollars as per policy at December 31. 

Average yields to maturity 

Members’ deposits bear interest at fixed rates with the following average yields at: 
     
                     2022                                 2021               
    Principal Yield  Principal Yield 

Fixed rate due less than one year  $ 165,434,473 2.85% $ 118,355,499 0.59% 
Fixed rate due between one and  
 seven years   30,719,590 4.14%  47,031,960 1.26% 
Non-interest sensitive  223,190,780 0.00%  240,510,000 0.00% 

   $ 419,344,843 1.52% $ 405,897,459 0.36% 
 
All member deposits are with members located in and around the North Okanagan region and 
Peachland, British Columbia. 

Fair value 

The fair value of member deposits at December 31, 2022 was $419,472,000 (2021 – $406,905,000). 

The estimated fair value of the fixed rate deposits is determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at current market rates for products with similar terms and credit risks. 
 
 
13. Payables and other liabilities 

Included in payables and other liabilities is an advance from World Source Financial Management. The 
Company was advanced an accumulated total of $460,062 bearing interest at 0% and is forgivable over 
60 months. During the year, $96,047 (2021 – $96,047) was forgiven for an accumulated total of 
$396,031. 
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14. Accrued pension asset 

The Credit Union makes contributions to CUMIS on behalf of their employees which participate in the 
defined benefit pension plan. CUMIS administers the plan including the payment of the pension benefits 
on behalf of employers and employees. Contributions are paid into the plan in accordance with the 
recommendations of an independent actuary. The latest formal actuarial valuation for contribution 
purposes was carried out as at December 31, 2019 and updated to December 31, 2022 for the following 
actuarial assumptions. 

The DBO was determined using the following actuarial assumptions: 
  2022 2021 

Discount rate  5.10% 3.00% 
Expected rate of return on plan assets  5.10% 3.00% 
Expected rate of salary increases  2.50% 2.00% 
Inflationary increases  2.50% 2.00% 

Statement of financial position 

The reconciliation of the Credit Union’s defined benefit obligation and plan assets to the amounts 
presented on the statement of financial position for each of the reporting periods are presented below: 

    2022  2021 

Fair value of plan assets $ 5,841,500 $ 6,198,600 
Defined benefit obligation  4,335,400  5,528,400 

Surplus  $ 1,506,100 $ 670,200 

Reconciliation of change in plan assets: 
      2022  2021 

Fair value of plan assets January 1   $ 6,198,600 $ 5,672,700 
Expected investment return    185,500  147,200 
Benefit payments    (165,400)  (167,400) 
Employer contributions    116,600  121,600 
Member contributions    21,400  22,200 
Actuarial (loss) gains    (515,200)  402,300 

Fair value of plan assets December 31   $ 5,841,500 $ 6,198,600 

Expected returns on plan assets are based on a weighted average of expected returns of various assets 
in the plan, and include an analysis of historical returns and predictions about future returns. The actual 
return on plan assets, net of expenses, was $329,700 (2021 – $549,500). 

Plan assets can be broken down into the following major categories of investments: 

      2022  2021 

Retirement Security Fund    55.57%  51.25% 
US Equity Fund    12.84%  13.83% 
Canadian Equity Fund    10.98%  11.26% 
International Equity Fund    8.70%  9.89% 
New Canada Equity Fund    11.78%  13.69% 
Universe Bond Index Fund    0.13%  0.08% 

Total plan assets    100%  100% 
 
(continued) 
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14. Accrued pension asset (continued) 

Reconciliation of change in defined benefit obligation: 
      2022  2021 

Defined benefit obligation January 1   $ 5,528,400 $ 5,834,600 
Interest on liabilities    168,000  153,300 
Benefit payments    (165,400)  (167,400) 
Contributions    21,400  22,200 
Service cost    131,500  123,300 
Actuarial gains    (1,348,500)  (437,600) 

Defined benefit obligation December 31   $ 4,335,400 $ 5,528,400 

Statement of comprehensive income 

The charge to the income statement comprises: 

      2022  2021 

Service cost   $ 131,500 $ 123,300 
Interest on assets    (185,500)  (147,200) 
Interest on liabilities    168,000  153,300 

Expense    $ 114,000 $ 129,400 

The expense is grouped with salaries and benefits within operating expenses. 

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income: 
      2022  2021 

Actuarial (loss) gain on plan assets   $ (515,200) $ 402,300 
Actuarial gain on liabilities    1,348,500  437,600 

Amount recognized in other comprehensive income  $ 833,300 $ 839,900 

Other defined benefit plan information 

Based on historical data, the Credit Union expects contributions of approximately $122,400 to be paid for 
2022. 
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15. Income taxes 

The significant components of tax expense included in net earnings are composed of: 

      2022  2021 

Current tax expense based on current year taxable income $ 383,593 $ 380,210 

Deferred tax (expense) recovery of origination and reversal  
 of temporary differences  111,800  (61,000) 

Income taxes $ 495,393 $ 319,210 

The significant components of the tax effect of the amounts recognized in other comprehensive loss are 
composed of: 
      2022  2021 
Current tax expense (recovery) 
 Change in unrealized (loss) gain on derivative instruments 
  and investments $ (83,594) $ (87,507) 
Total tax effect of amounts 
 recorded in other comprehensive loss $ (83,594) $ (87,507) 

Reasons for the difference between tax expense for the year and the expected income taxes based on 
the statutory tax rate of 27% (2021 – 27%) are as follows: 
      2022  2021 
 
Earnings before income taxes $ 3,147,800 $ 1,947,405 

Expected taxes based on the statutory rate $ 849,906 $ 525,799 

Rate differentials  (222,108)  (48,105) 
Specified leasing tax treatment  (184,647)  6,817 
Other    (10,384)  (52,825) 
Other comprehensive income  (49,174)  (51,476) 

Current tax expense  383,593  380,210 
Deferred tax expense (recovery)  111,800  (61,000) 

Total tax expense $ 495,393 $ 319,210 

The movement in the 2022 income taxes payable is: 

      2022  2021 
 
Current income tax expense $ 383,593 $ 380,210 
Tax recovery on items in other comprehensive income  (83,594)  (87,507) 
Tax installments  (292,713)  (171,174) 

     $ 7,286 $ 121,529 

 

(continued) 
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15. Income taxes (continued) 

The movement in 2022 deferred tax assets are: 

 Opening  Recognized Closing 
 Balance at Recognized in other Balance 
 January 1, in net comprehensive December 31, 
Deferred income tax asset 2022 earnings income 2022 

Property, equipment, 
 and intangible assets $ 104,000 $ (109,800) $ - $ (5,800) 
Allowance for loan losses  33,000  4,000  -  37,000 
Other temporary differences  5,000  (1,000)  -  4,000 
Finance lease obligation  15,000  (5,000)  -  10,000 

    $ 157,000 $ (111,800) $ - $ 45,200 
 
 
16. Derivative financial instruments 

During the year, the Credit Union unwound all its interest rate swap contracts as a result of the drop in the 
interest rate posted by the Bank of Canada. The result of this transaction was a gain of $701,500 of which 
$12,352 (2021 - $288,935) was recorded through profit and loss as a realized gain, and the remaining 
$nil (2021 - $12,352) being recorded through other comprehensive income as an unrealized gain to be 
amortized into profit and loss over the original interest rate swap timelines.  
 
 
17. Borrowings 

The Credit Union has available to it, through the Central 1 Credit Union, an operating line and term facility 
of $5,000,000 and a $1,000,000 capital markets facility. The facilities bear interest at Bank of Canada 
overnight lending rates plus 0.95% and are secured by an assignment of loans to members, accounts 
receivable and a demand debenture in favour of Central 1 Credit Union. At year end, the balance 
outstanding was $nil (2021 – $nil) on the operating facility and $nil (2021 – $nil) on the capital markets 
facility. 
 
 
18. Members’ shares 

Membership shares are classified as liabilities or as member equity according to their terms. Where 
shares are redeemable at the option of the member, either on demand or on withdrawal from 
membership, the shares are classified as liabilities. Where shares are redeemable at the discretion of the 
Credit Union Board of Directors, the shares are classified as equity. 

The Credit Union may issue four classes of shares designated as membership equity of $1 par value. 

Class A and Class C Equity Shares 

As a condition of membership, which is required to use the services of the Credit Union, each standard 
member is required to hold $25 in membership shares. These membership shares are non-transferable 
and redeemable at par only when a membership is withdrawn. Dividends are at the discretion of the 
Board of Directors.  

(continued) 
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18. Members’ shares (continued) 

Class D Allocation Equity Shares 

Allocation shares can be issued to members of the Credit Union through dividends and patronage 
rebates. They are non-voting and redeemable at par at the discretion of the Board of Directors.  

Class B Non-Equity Shares 

Shares can be issued to members of the Credit Union. They are non-voting and pay dividends at the 
discretion of the Board of Directors. Shares are available for redemption by the member and are 
classified as liabilities.  

Equity shares are not insured by Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation of B.C. (“CUDIC”).  During 
the year, the Credit Union declared dividends on the membership shares, allocation equity shares and 
non-equity share savings of $58,170 (2021 – $42,197). 
 
During the year, the Credit Union also declared Patronage dividends of $367,308 (2021 - $nil). 
 
 
19. Other income 2022  2021 

Account service fees $ 805,497 $ 748,227 
Foreign exchange  111,817  122,344 
Insurance commissions, fees and lease revenue  2,309,872  2,354,683 
Loan administration fees  313,687  250,249 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment  (771)  (261,056) 
Rental income  405,729  329,174 
Safety deposit rentals  26,546  27,371 

    $ 3,972,377  $ 3,570,992  
 
 
20. Operating expenses  2022  2021 

Advertising $ 168,012  $ 137,160  
Depreciation  708,730   860,633  
Data processing  703,196  657,706 
Dues and assessments  721,692   879,937  
Human resource and administration  196,911   158,863  
Maintenance, supplies and security  578,319   679,003 
Premises, occupancy and office  1,034,573   1,077,003  
Professional fees and insurance  685,936   621,479 
Salaries and benefits  6,050,435   5,849,514  

    $ 10,847,804  $ 10,921,298 
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21. Related party transactions 

The Credit Union’s related parties include key management, as those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Credit Union, including directors 
and management, post-employment benefit plans for the Credit Union’s employees and others as 
described below. Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporate special terms and 
conditions and no guarantees were given or received. Outstanding balances are usually settled in cash. 

The Credit Union entered into the following transactions with key management personnel, which are 
defined by IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures. 
      2022  2021 
Compensation 
 Salaries and other short-term employee benefits to directors 
  and management (2022 – 15 and 2021 – 14) $ 860,262 $ 890,748 
 Total pension and other post-employment benefits  $ 134,058 $ 135,284 

Loans and leases to key management personnel 
 Aggregate value of loans and leases advanced  $ 2,609,743 $ 2,553,364 
 Interest received on loans and leases advanced  $ 80,952 $ 76,333 
 Aggregate value of un-advanced loans and leases $ 392,802 $ 384,895  

The Credit Union’s policy for lending to key management personnel is that all such loans and leases were 
granted in accordance with normal lending terms. 

      2022  2021 
Deposits from key management personnel 
 Aggregate value of term and savings deposits $ 3,713,080 $ 3,029,144 
 Total interest paid on term and saving deposits $ 7,215 $ 21,128 

The Credit Union’s policy for receiving deposits from key management personnel is that all transactions 
are approved and deposits accepted in accordance with the same conditions which apply to Members for 
each type of deposit.  
 
 
22. Financial instrument risk management 

General objectives, policies and processes 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the determination of the Credit Union’s risk 
management objectives and policies and, whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated 
the authority for designing and operating processes that ensure effective implementation of the objectives 
and policies to the Credit Union’s finance function. The Board of Directors receives quarterly reports from 
the Credit Union’s Chief Financial Officer through which it reviews the effectiveness of the processes put 
in place and the appropriateness of the objectives and policies it sets. 

(continued)

36    |   2022 Annual Report



VantageOne Credit Union 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 
 

 34 

22. Financial instrument risk management (continued) 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from the failure of a borrower or counter party to honour its financial 
or contractual obligation to the Credit Union.  Credit risk primarily arises from loans receivable.  
Management and the Board of Directors reviews and updates the credit risk policy annually.  The 
maximum exposure of the Credit Union to credit risk before taking into account any collateral held is the 
carrying amount of the loans as disclosed on the statement of financial position.   

Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of borrowers are engaged in similar economic activities or 
are located in the same geographic region, and indicate the relative sensitivity of the Credit Union’s 
performance to developments affecting a particular segment of borrowers or geographic region.  
Geographic risk exists for the Credit Union due to its primary service area being Vernon, BC and 
surrounding areas including Peachland, BC. 

Credit risk rating systems are designed to assess and quantify the risk inherent in credit activities in an 
accurate and consistent manner. To assess credit risk, the Credit Union takes into consideration the 
member’s character, ability to pay, and value of collateral available to secure the loan. 

The Credit Union’s credit risk management principles are guided by its overall risk management 
principles. The Board of Directors ensures that management has a framework, and policies, processes 
and procedures in place to manage credit risks and that the overall credit risk policies are complied with 
at the business and transaction level. 

The Credit Union’s credit risk policies set out the minimum requirements for management of credit risk in 
a variety of transactional and portfolio management contexts. Its credit risk policies comprise the 
following: 

 General loan policy statements including approval of lending policies, eligibility for loans, 
exceptions to policy, policy violations, liquidity, and loan administration; 

 Loan lending limits including Board of Director limits, schedule of assigned limits and exemptions 
from aggregate indebtedness; 

 Loan collateral security classifications which set loan classifications, advance ratios and 
amortization periods; 

 Procedures outlining loan overdrafts, release or substitution of collateral, temporary suspension of 
payments and loan renegotiations; 

 Loan delinquency controls regarding procedures followed for loans in arrears; and 
 Audit procedures and processes are in existence for the Credit Union’s lending activities. 

With respect to credit risk, the Board of Directors receives monthly reports summarizing new loans, 
delinquent loans and overdraft utilization. The Board of Directors also receives an analysis of bad debts 
and allowance for doubtful loans quarterly. 

For the current year, the amount of financial assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired whose 
terms have been renegotiated is $nil (2021 – $nil). 

There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the exposure to risk or policies, 
procedures and methods used to measure the risk. 

The following table discloses the breakdown of debt securities held by credit rating: 

  2022 2021 

R-1H  $ - $ 6,222,821 
AAA    20,101,100  17,589,887 
AA (low)  15,532,935  10,343,607 

    $ 35,634,035 $ 34,156,315 
(continued) 
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22. Financial instrument risk management (continued) 

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union cannot meet a demand for cash or fund its obligations as 
they come due.  The Credit Union’s management oversees the Credit Union’s liquidity risk to ensure the 
Credit Union has access to enough readily available funds to cover its financial obligations as they come 
due.  The Credit Union’s business requires such capital for operating and regulatory purposes.   

The assessment of the Credit Union’s liquidity position reflects management’s estimates, assumptions 
and judgments pertaining to current and prospective firm specific and market conditions and the related 
behaviour of its members and counterparties. The Financial Institutions Act specifies that a minimum 
liquidity ratio of 8% must be maintained.  

The Credit Union manages liquidity risk by: 

 Continuously monitoring actual daily cash flows and longer term forecasted cash flows; 

 Maintaining adequate reserves, liquidity support facilities and reserve borrowing facilities; 

 Monitoring the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities; and 

 Monitoring the liquidity ratios monthly. 

The Board of Directors receives monthly liquidity reports as well as information regarding cash balances 
in order for it to monitor the Credit Union’s liquidity framework. The Credit Union was in compliance with 
the liquidity requirements at year end. 

As at December 31, the position of the Credit Union is as follows: 

    2022  2021 
    Maximum  Maximum 
    exposure  exposure 

Qualifying liquid assets on hand $ 36,997,390 $ 35,803,849 
Total liquidity requirement 8% minimum  (33,693,548)  (32,535,135) 

Excess liquidity – actual less requirement $ 3,303,842 $ 3,268,714 
 
    2022  2021 

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 48,705,937 $ 45,660,767 
Total term deposits and accrued interest  24,714,856  14,231,099 
Debt securities  35,634,035  34,243,537 

Total liquid assets on hand  109,054,828  94,135,403 

Total liquidity requirement 8%  (33,693,548)  (32,535,135) 

Excess liquidity (including non-qualifying assets) $ 75,361,280 $ 61,600,268 
 
 2022 2021 

Total liquidity ratio (including non-qualifying assets) 25.9% 23.1% 
 
The maturities of liabilities are shown below under market risk. The Credit Union has no material 
commitments for capital expenditures and there is no need for such expenditures in the normal course of 
business. 

There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the exposure to risk or policies, 
procedures and methods used to measure the risk. 

(continued)
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22. Financial instrument risk management (continued) 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices.  For purposes of this disclosure, the Credit Union segregates 
market risk into two categories: fair value risk and interest rate risk.   

Fair value risk 
 
Fair value risk is the potential for loss from an adverse movement in the value of a financial instrument. 
The Credit Union incurs fair value risk on its loans, term deposits and investments held. The Credit Union 
does not hedge its fair value risk. The fair value hierarchy establishes three levels to classify the 
significance of inputs to valuation techniques used in making fair value measurements. 

 Level 1 – Inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly. 

 Level 3 – Inputs are based on unobservable market data. 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. 

The following table presents the financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position by 
asset class and by level within the valuation hierarchy: 

In ($’000) 
        Total 
  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Fair Value 
2022 
Financial assets 
   Central 1 shares $ - $ 127 $ - $ 127 
   Investment, other shares $ - $ 1 $ - $ 1 
   Provincial bonds $ 18,746 $ - $ - $ 18,746 
   Mortgage-backed securities $ 16,738 $ - $ - $ 16,738 
 
2021 
Financial assets 
   Central 1 and CUPP Services 
      Ltd. shares $ - $ 231 $ - $ 231 
   Investment, other shares $ - $ 1 $ - $ 1 
   Government bonds $ 6,223 $ - $ - $ 6,223 
   Provincial bonds $ 10,343 $ - $ - $ 10,343 
   Mortgage-backed securities $ 17,590 $ - $ - $ 17,590 

Measurement of fair value financial instruments 

The Credit Union performs valuations of financial items for financial reporting purposes, including Level 2 
fair values. Valuation techniques are selected based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the 
overall objective of maximizing the use of market-based information.    

Level 2 financial instruments consist of investments with Central 1, CUPP Services, and other shares. 
Typically, the Central 1 shares are not available for trade in an active market but the effects of non-
observable inputs are not significant for shares at year end.     

Level 2 financial instruments also include derivative instruments, which is determined by using quoted 
market benchmark rates from an independent source. The Credit Union uses a valuation method that 
includes discounted cash flows on the remaining contractual life of a derivative instrument and valuation 
models that use observable market data. 

(continued) 
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22. Financial instrument risk management (continued) 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The Credit Union incurs interest rate risk on its 
loans and other interest bearing financial instruments.  At December 31, 2022, the Credit Union had no 
outstanding interest rate swap contracts. Interest rate swaps involve the exchange of interest flows 
between two parties on a specified notional principal amount for a pre-determined period at agreed upon 
fixed and floating rates.  Principal amounts are not exchanged and are not indicative of a credit exposure. 
The Credit Union’s goal is to manage the interest rate risk of the statement of financial position to a target 
level. The Credit Union continually monitors the effectiveness of its interest rate mitigation activities. Due 
to the low interest rates posted by the Bank of Canada the Credit Union did not commence any new 
swaps during 2022. 

The Credit Union’s position is measured monthly. Measurement of risk is based on rates charged to 
clients as well as funds transfer pricing rates. 

The Credit Union is exposed to interest rate risk as a consequence of the mismatch, or gap between the 
assets, liabilities and off balance sheet instruments scheduled to re-price on particular dates. The 
following table details the Credit Union’s exposure to interest rate risk. 

Maturity dates substantially coincide with interest adjustment dates. Amounts that are not interest 
sensitive are grouped together, regardless of maturity. 

The table below does not incorporate management’s expectation of future events where re-pricing or 
maturity dates of certain loans and deposits differ significantly from the contractual date. 

  Interest sensitive balances in $000’s  
      Not 
 Average Within 3 4 months  Over 1 interest 
 Rates Months to 1 year Year sensitive Total 
Assets 
Cash and cash 
 equivalents 4.08% $ 47,042 $ - $ - $ 1,664 $ 48,706 
Loans 4.41%  62,151 37,585  230,413 126  330,275 
Other 2.80%  2,886 46,350  11,432 12,488  73,156 

  112,079 83,935  241,845 14,278  452,137 
Liabilities 
Deposits 1.51%  55,086 109,631  30,470 225,982  421,169 
Other 0.00%  - -  - 1,183  1,183 

  55,086 109,631  30,470 227,165  422,352 

Balance sheet mismatch  56,993 (25,696)  211,375 (212,887)  29,785 
Derivatives  - -  - -  - 

Interest sensitivity 
 position 2022 $ 56,993 $ (25,696) $ 211,375 $ (212,887) $ 29,785 

Interest sensitivity  
 position 2021 $ 69,643 $ 5,737 $ 180,450 $ (229,108) $ 26,722 
 
Interest sensitive assets and liabilities cannot normally be perfectly matched by amount and term to 
maturity. The Credit Union utilizes interest rate swaps to assist in managing this rate gap. One of the 
roles of a Credit Union is to intermediate between the expectations of borrowers and depositors. 

(continued) 
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22. Financial instrument risk management (continued) 

Interest rate risk (continued) 

An analysis of the Credit Union’s risk due to changes in interest rates determined that an increase in 
interest rates of 1% could result in an increase to net earnings of $427,000 while a decrease in interest 
rates of 1% could result in an decrease to net earnings of $435,000. 

There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the exposure to risk or policies, 
procedures and methods used to measure the risk. 

Currency risk 

Currency risk relates to the Credit Union operating in different currencies and converting non-Canadian 
earnings at different points in time at different foreign exchange levels when adverse changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates occur. 

The Credit Union’s foreign exchange risk is related to US dollar deposits and loans denominated in 
US dollars. Foreign currency changes are continually monitored by the investment committee for 
effectiveness of its foreign exchange mitigation activities and holdings are adjusted when offside of the 
investment policy. 

The Credit Union’s position is measured monthly. Measurement of risk is based on rates charged to 
clients as well as currency purchase costs. 

The Credit Union’s exposure to changes in currency exchange rates shall be controlled by limiting the 
unhedged foreign currency exposure to 5% in US funds. 

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Credit Union’s exposure to foreign exchange risk is within 
policy. 

There have been no significant changes from the previous year in the exposure to risk or policies, 
procedures and methods used to measure the risk. 
 
Other price risk 

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), 
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, 
or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. As at December 31, 2022, the 
Credit Union is exposed to other price risk through its investments quoted in an active market. 

Equity risk 

The Credit Union’s investment policy allows investments in the following categories:  

Central 1 Credit Union shares and deposits, equity shares, assets/liability hedges, mortgage backed 
securities, subsidiaries, real property, bonds, bankers’ acceptances, and commercial paper. There are no 
limits to investment to Central 1 investments, and hedges; all other investments are limited to 5% of total 
assets. Equities are monitored by the Board of Directors and holdings are adjusted following each quarter 
when the investments are offside of the investment policy. 

 
 

 2022 Annual Report   |  41



VantageOne Credit Union 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 
 

 39 

23. Capital management 

The Credit Union requires capital to fund existing and future operations and to meet regulatory capital 
requirements. 

In the management of capital, the Credit Union included retained earnings, accumulated other 
comprehensive income, and equity shares totaling $29,784,775 (2021 – $26,721,563).  

The Credit Union is required under provincial legislation to maintain a minimum capital base equal to 8% 
of the total risk-weighted value of assets, each asset being assigned a risk factor based on the probability 
that a loss may be incurred on ultimate realization of that asset. 

The Credit Union’s current capital base is equal to 17.31% (2021 – 15.77%) of the total value of 
risk-weighted assets. 

The Credit Union employs a Capital Management Plan and a Capital Appreciation Plan that are reviewed 
by management and the Board of Directors.  The Capital Appreciation Plan forecasts the Credit Union’s 
capital position over a five year period. 

The Capital Management Plan dictates management’s approach to growth, loan mix, credit quality, fixed 
assets, profitability objectives, dividend/patronage rebate policy and has a significant influence on 
member service objectives.  It also establishes the criteria to maintain a cushion beyond the minimum 
statutory capital requirements.  Management and the Board of Directors ensure the Credit Union’s 
Investment and Lending Policy and credit risk profile reflect loan portfolio composition and levels of risk 
that are consistent with the Credit Union’s Capital Management Plan objectives.  There has been no 
change in the overall capital requirements strategy employed during the year ended December 31, 2022. 

Management will continue to develop business plans targeting capital adequacy ratio which exceed the 
minimum ratio established by legislation or regulations. Capital adequacy ratio is driven by the risk 
weighting of the Credit Union’s assets. Accordingly, capital adequacy objectives must take into account 
factors such as loan mix, investment quality and the level of fixed assets.   

Decisions relating to strategic objectives that impact the risk weighting of the Credit Union’s assets are 
analyzed by management to determine their effect on the Credit Union’s capital adequacy ratio.  
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24. Commitments 

Member loans 

The Credit Union has the following commitments to its members at the year-end date on account of loans 
and unused lines of credit: 

Unadvanced loans $ 11,781,575 
Unused lines of credit $ 61,511,297 

Off balance sheet 

Funds under administration 

Off balance sheet funds under administration by the Credit Union is comprised of a loan that has been 
syndicated and is administered in the capacity as an agent.  Off balance sheet funds are not included in 
the balance sheet and the balance as at year end is as follows: 

      2022  2021 

Syndicated loans $ 180,606 $ 189,047 
 
Canada Emergency Business Account (“CEBA”) 

At December 31, 2022, the Credit Union has disbursed loans in the amount of $6,732,500 (2021 – 
$8,435,000) on behalf of Central 1 related to the CEBA program. This amount has not been included in 
the loans balance on the statement of financial position. 

Letters of credit 

In the normal course of business, the Credit Union enters into various off balance sheet commitments 
such as letters of credit.  Letters of credit are not reflected on the balance sheet. At December 31, 2022, 
the Credit Union has outstanding letters of credit on behalf of members in the amount of $1,766,000 
(2021 – $1,682,410).  These letters of credit have various levels of security. 
 
 
25. Post-reporting date events 

No adjusting or significant non-adjusting events have occurred between the reporting date and the date of 
authorization. 
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Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of VantageOne Credit Union is comprised of 7 elected representatives. All have a 
professional or business background including financial, accounting, engineering, technology, governance 
and Enterprise-Wide Risk Management that contributes significant expertise at the board table. 

All of VantageOne’s directors participate in the national system’s Credit Union Director Achievement 
(CUDA) program. In addition, all directors have opportunities to attend conferences, workshops and 
take courses to enhance the knowledge and expertise in areas of governance. 

Terms of Office

Cheryl Turcotte
Director

Current Term 2022 – 2024 
Director Since 2012

Jordan Bowness
Vice-Chair

Current Term 2021 – 2024
Director Since 2018

Wilf Mulder
Director

Current Term 2020 – 2023
Director Since 2016

Corporate Governance

Juliette Cunningham
Director

Current Term 2020 – 2023
Director Since 2020

Mike Champigny
Director

Current Term 2022 – 2025
Director Since 2022

Akbal Mund
Director

Current Term 2022 – 2025
Director Since 2022

Michelle Sinclair
Director

Current Term 2022 – 2025
Director Since 2019
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Each of VantageOne’s committees has its own terms of reference and workplan. Audit, Conduct Review, 
Investment & Lending and Board Development committees are run as Committee of the Whole.

Audit
6 Meetings
Cheryl Turcotte, Chair
Jordan Bowness
Mike Champigny

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities 
include oversight of the activities of 
the external auditor, assessment of 
accounting policies and the adequacy 
of internal controls. In addition, the 
oversight of ERM which include 
ensuring the organization has effective 
risk management processes in place. 

Conduct Review
4 Meetings
Mike Champigny, Chair

The Conduct Review Committee is 
responsible for establishing policies 
and procedures to address conflict 
of interest, standards of conduct and 
to maintain sensitive information 
confidential.

Governance & HR
10 Meetings
Wilf Mulder, Chair
Jordan Bowness, Vice-Chair
Cheryl Turcotte

The role of the Governance & HR 
Committee is to ensure effectiveness 
of VantageOne’s overall governance 
framework and oversee VantageOne’s 
Human Resources governing policies 
and programs.

Investment & Lending 
4 Meetings
Michelle Sinclair, Chair
Juliette Cunningham
Cheryl Turcotte
Akbal Mund
Glenn Benischek, (Management)*

The Investment & Lending Committee 
is responsible for ensuring there is an 
appropriate, prudent policy to govern 
the employment of funds entrusted 
to the organization and to oversee the 
employment of those funds.

Nominating
6 Meetings
Akbal Mund, Chair
Jordan Bowness
Mike Champigny
Michelle Sinclair
Cheryl Turcotte

The Nominating Committee oversees 
the director election process, including 
ensuring that qualified candidates are 
nominated for director positions.

Board Development 
4 Meetings
Wilf Mulder, Chair

The Board Development Committee 
is responsible for ensuring the board 
continually develops its skills and 
knowledge, as well as assessing the 
skill and knowledge strengths and 
weaknesses of board members.

Committees

*The CEO is a Voting Officer Member of the Investment & Lending Committee.

Technology Strategy
6 Meetings
Jordan Bowness, Chair
Cheryl Turcotte
Mike Champigny

The role of the Technology Strategy 
Committee (TSC) is to have the depth 
of knowledge and understanding 
about technology that is needed to 
provide the leadership and oversight 
necessary to advance the technology 
strategy work, ensuring continued 
growth, with impact, consistent with 
VantageOne’s vision and values.

ESG
5 Meetings
Juliette Cunningham, Chair
Michelle Sinclair
Mike Champigny

The ESG Committee is responsible 
to represent the Board in defining 
VantageOne’s corporate strategy 
relating to ESG matters and to 
review the practices and initiatives of 
VantageOne relating to ESG matters 
ensuring that they remain effective 
and up to date. 

 2022 Annual Report   |  45



VantageOne Credit Union provides directors with the following compensation:

• Board Meetings: $350/Director

• Basic Remuneration: $3,000/Director

• Additional Annual Fees Paid: Board Chair $2,500, Vice-Chair $1,500, Audit Committee Chair $700,  
Investment & Lending Committee Chair $700, Governance & HR Policy Committee Chair $700, 
Technology Strategy Committee Chair $700, ESG Committee Chair $700, Conduct Review Committee 
Chair $250, Board Development Committee Chair $250, Nominating Committee Chair $250

• Reimbursement of expenses including travel, accommodation, parking, meals for meetings, training and 
for expenses related to approved representation of the credit union.

• In 2022 there was a total of 11 board meetings, 45 committee meetings held, as well as the AGM

Section 11.26 of the Credit Union Rules state that the remuneration, if any, of the Directors in relation to their 
service as Directors may be established, from time to time, by the Board of Directors.  

For the fiscal year 2022, the total expense for VantageOne Credit Union Directors was $74,068. The expense 
for each director is summarized alongside.

Cheryl Turcotte 
Director
Director Remuneration 
$11,567

Training, Travel & Expenses 
$2,699

Jordan Bowness 
Vice-Chair
Director Remuneration 
$11,775

Training, Travel & Expenses 
$1,267

Michelle Sinclair 
Director
Director Remuneration 
$9,183

Training, Travel & Expenses 
$1,646

Juliette Cunningham 
Director
Director Remuneration 
$8,633

Training, Travel & Expenses 
$1,386

Jason Gilbert 
Director (Jan- May 2022)

Director Remuneration 
$2,717

Training, Travel & Expenses 
$0

Mike Champigny 
Director (May-Dec 2022) 
Director Remuneration 
$5,096

Training, Travel & Expenses 
$1,899

Wilf Mulder 
Chair
Director Remuneration 
$10,238

Training, Travel & Expenses 
$1,753

Akbal Mund 
Director (May-Dec 2022) 
Director Remuneration 
$3,596

Training, Travel & Expenses 
$614

Remuneration
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Jordan Bowness 11/11 6/6 4/4 4/4 n/a 10/10 2/2 6/6 6/6

Mike Champigny 
(May – Dec 2022) 4/5 2/3 2/2 2/2 1/1 n/a n/a 2/2 3/3

Juliette 
Cunningham 11/11 4/4 2/2 4/4 5/5 3/4 4/4 4/4 3/3

Jason Gilbert 
(May – Dec 2022) 6/6 3/3 2/2 2/2 n/a n/a 2/2 n/a n/a

Wilf Mulder 11/11 4/4 4/4 4/4 n/a 6/6 2/2 4/4 3/3

Akbal Mund 
(May – Dec 2022) 4/5 n/a 2/2 2/2 n/a n/a 0/2 2/2 n/a

Michelle Sinclair 11/11 4/4 4/4 4/4 5/5 4/4 4/4 2/2 n/a

Cheryl Turcotte  11/11 5/6 4/4 4/4 n/a 10/10 4/4 2/2 3/3

*Meetings Held number may differ depending on when a director came on board or sat on a specific committee. New Terms began May 2022.

Director Attendance (Attended/Meetings Held*)

Senior Management Compensation
As a part of improved governance reporting and communication to members this section outlines the compensation 
philosophy for Senior Managers of VantageOne Credit Union and the aggregate direct salaries paid to our senior managers. 

Organization Structure
The Board of Directors is responsible for governing the 
direction of VantageOne Credit Union. A key part of 
this is the hiring of a CEO who in turn in responsible for 
hiring the Senior Management Team for the organization. 
Given the complexity of our organization, our senior 
management team consists of our Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO), Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Chief Credit, Risk 
& Operations Office (CCROO), VP Commercial Banking 
Services, VP Human Resources, VP Marketing, VP 
Wealth Management. Under the direction of the CEO this 
team is responsible for executing strategy approved by the 
board of directors and managing the day-to-day activities 
of the credit union.

Compensation Philosophy
Our compensation and benefit strategy is to provide 
competitive, cost-effective benefits that will help to attract 
and retain employees.

VantageOne intends to maintain our employee 
compensation program in a way that will help us attract 
the necessary talent we need to grow and further the 
strategic interests of our business. We will provide a 
compensation program that will be attractive and provide 
talented employees with good reason for remaining with 
the VantageOne and continuing in their efforts to improve 
the value to the organization and the community we serve.

In practical application, our philosophy is to provide direct 
compensation for senior managers in the mid-range of the 
market for these positions in the Canadian Credit Union 
System while also reflecting our local market conditions.

Direct Compensation Disclosure
The total direct compensation (salary and incentives, if any) 
provided to our seven senior managers is $946,387. We report 
that all Senior Managers are at or below the mid-range of the 
Canadian Credit Union market for their positions.
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Who we are

We are a Credit Union dedicated to the financial well-being of our members, clients, 
employees and communities. Part of what’s extraordinary about VantageOne is that 

while we offer traditional banking and borrowing solutions, we have also strategically 
diversified our services in ways to meet our members’ expanding financial needs.

What we do 
Provide financial ability

Why we do it 
We truly care about our members

How we do it 
Our values drive our behaviours: pride, 
integrity, enthusiasm, service innovation

250-545-9251 / 1-888-339-8328 Consumer Banking
Commercial Banking

250-260-4513
Wealth Management

250-260-4527
Equipment Leasing

Financial ability with a human touch.®
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Our VantageOne Communities
est. 1944

Any Branch is Your Branch
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 Armstrong  |  Arrow Lake  |   Peachland  |  Vernon Main

Financial ability with a human touch.®

1-888-339-8328  |  vantageone.net


